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I. INTRODUCTION 

At Michael Adams' jury trial, the jurors heard an officer 

read a statement written and signed under penalty of perjury by 

Mr. Adams. The jurors did not know the statement was 

amended four times by command of the officer. The jurors also 

saw a video of testimony given by Mr. Adams. The jurors did 

not know that Mr. Adams had not been fully advised of his 

right to counsel. Because both statements were obtained in 

violation of Mr. Adams' constitutional rights, these statements 

should not have been heard by the jury. This Court should grant 

review of these important constitutional issues. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION 

BELOW 

Michael Adams, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant 

review of the Court of Appeals' opinion in State v. Michael 

Adams, No. 86841-1-1 (Wash. Ct. App. January 27, 2025), and 

order denying reconsideration on March 6, 2025. Copies are 

attached. 
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III. ISSUE FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE 

GRANTED 

1. The Fifth Amendment guarantees that "[n]o person . . .  

shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against 

himself." A violation of this right is presumed prejudicial 

requiring reversal unless the prosecution demonstrates the error 

was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, which means no 

reasonable juror could have voted to acquit. Here, the Court of 

Appeals correctly concluded that Mr. Adams was compelled to 

provide evidence against himself by an officer who ordered him 

to amend his written statement four times. Despite this violation 

of his constitutional rights, the Court of Appeals misapplied the 

prejudice standard for constitutional errors and denied Mr. 

Adams a new trial. This Court should grant review to correct 

the Court of Appeals misunderstanding of the law and as a 

matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )(3) 

2. An officer must administer CrR 3.1 advisements 

before questioning a person. An officer questioned Mr. Adams 
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but did not read the CrR 3 .1 advisements. The officer stated he 

never did in any case. Mr. Adams therefore gave a statement 

without being fully advised of his immediate right to counsel at 

no expense as required by CrR 3 .1 ( c )( 1 ). The Court of Appeals 

erred by finding that these warnings were not necessary. This 

Court should grant review to clarify the Court of Appeals 

misunderstanding that officers are not required to provide a full 

advisement of rights as a matter of law and as a matter of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )(3) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Sunshine and Michael Adams 1 were married and living 

together with their three children, including their eldest child, 

Mr. Adams' step-child, D.A.T.2 RP 621. On November 16, 

2019, the family spent the day together, had dinner, and then 

returned home. RP 621. Mr. Adams and Sunshine both drank 

1 The family shares a last name so this brief will refer to Sunshine Adams by her first 
name to avoid confusion. No disrespect is intended. 
2 D.A.T. is referred to as both Daisy and Ash in the exhibits and transcript because he had 

changed his name between the time of the incident and the time of trial. 
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that day� Sunshine said she had "3-4" shots after dinner and Mr. 

Adams had been drinking all day. RP 624-25, 650-51. 

Mr. Adams and Sunshine had sex in their bedroom and 

Sunshine went to sleep. RP 653. The other children were in bed 

but, because D.A.T. was still awake and Sunshine was sleeping, 

Mr. Adams stayed up. Id. Mr. Adams asked D.A.T, then 13 

years old, if he wanted to watch a movie with him. RP 653. 

D.A.T said he and Mr. Adams were sitting on the couch 

watching a movie and talking. RP 482, 486. Sunshine was in 

her bedroom because she was drunk. RP 501. D.A.T. said Mr. 

Adams placed his hand on D.A.T.'s thigh. RP 490. Mr. Adams 

was wearing a robe. RP 492. According to D.A.T., Mr. Adams 

took D.A.T. 's hand and placed it under his robe and on what he 

thought was his penis. RP 492-94. D.A.T. pulled his hand back 

and said: "Whoa." RP 494. The whole incident lasted 'just a 

few seconds." RP 507. 

D.A.T. jumped up, grabbed his phone, and texted his 

biological father. RP 494. He told Mr. Adams he was going 
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outside to "take a breather" and left with his biological father. 

RP 495-96. They then made a police report. RP 496, 513-14. 

Later that night, two fully armed and uniformed officers, 

Officers Esau and Sand, arrived at the Adams' s home to 

investigate. RP 61. It was late at night and Mr. Adams, who had 

been drinking all day, was barefoot in his pajamas. RP 81-83, 

93-94. They did not read Mr. Adams his Miranda warnings but 

did ask him about D.A.T. There was a dispute about whether 

the officers told the Adams that D.A.T. reported that Mr. 

Adams had taken his hand and placed it on his penis. 

According Officer Sand, Mr. Adams said the two were 

on the couch cuddling when D.A. T. grabbed his bare penis. RP 

87. He also said it was not "sexual." RP 86. Mr. Adams almost 

immediately said "none of that happened. I didn't do any of 

that. She never grabbed my penis." RP 87. Mr. Adams repeated 

he had been drinking all day. RP 87. 

Officer Sand, who had been an officer only 18 months, 

asked Mr. Adams to complete a written statement. RP 88, 555. 
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Officer Sand testified that Mr. Adams wrote a statement but 

that statement did not say anything about D.A.T. grabbing his 

penis. RP 89. So he said: "Hey you should put something in 

there, you know, whatever statement you want to make about 

that, make sure that's in there because that's an important part 

of your statement." RP 89. 

Mr. Adams wrote another paragraph and handed it back 

to Officer Sand and said: "I'm finished." RP 89. Officer Sand 

handed it back to Mr. Adams again because it said nothing 

about D.A.T. Id. Sand directed: "This is -- well, why I need 

your statement is your recollection about what happened 

tonight." Id. Officer Sand, referring to the statement regarding 

D.A.T., stated: "I wanted him to put that in there." RP 96. He 

agreed that he was not "satisfied" with Mr. Adams' first three 

written statements. RP 97. 

In the end, Officer Sand directed Mr. Adams rewrite his 

statement four times before signing it. RP 96. When shown the 
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signed statement later, he could not identify where the revisions 

were in the document. RP 100. 

Officer Sand claimed that throughout the encounter Mr. 

Adams "seemed flustered and he would be fidgeting and 

wouldn't be able to make eye contact with me. He'd start 

crying. Just those kinds of things." RP 78. He later testified: 

"He had excessive trouble getting through his statement." RP 

52. When asked if Mr. Adams appeared to be intoxicated 

Officer Sand said: "Not that I really noted." RP 77. He said that 

"this was not a DUI" investigation. When the State asked about 

his observations, the officer said: "It would not be appropriate 

to determine if someone was intoxicated in a non-DUI context." 

RP 102. He later testified that whether Mr. Adams was drunk 

was "not relevant at the time I was talking to him." RP 561. 

Once the officers had the statement, they left. RP 104. 

The officers did not take Mr. Adams to jail that evening. 

Several days later, Mr. Adams was arrested by Detective 

Azinger. RP 110. The detective read Mr. Adams his Miranda 
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rights. Trial Ex. 1, RP 110. Detective Azinger admitted 

however, that he did not read the following warning: "You have 

the right to counsel. If you are unable to pay for counsel you're 

entitled to one without charge." RP 118. The detective agreed 

that his card told him: "Regardless of Miranda applicability, 

Washington State requires that the following advisement to 

given to every person taken into custody." RP 118. Detective 

Azinger said he "never read the back side" of the card because 

"based on [his] training" it was not required. RP 119. 

Detective Azinger videotaped his interrogation of Mr. 

Adams. RP 112. In that interview Mr. Adams repeated that he 

had been drinking all day. Trial Ex. 1. He and D.A.T. were 

sitting together on the couch "cuddling." Id. He fell asleep but 

woke up when D.A.T. jumped up and went to the bathroom. Id. 

When she came out of the bathroom, she told him she need to 

go outside to get some air. Id. Her biological father arrived 

when she was outside and took her home. Id. Mr. Adams 

denied any sexual contact. Id. 
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Mr. Adams was eventually charged with child 

molestation in the second degree and incest in the second 

degree. CP 5-6. 

Prior to his trial, Mr. Adams moved to suppress the 

statement he signed on November 19, 2019 and the videotaped 

statement. RP 129, 133. Mr. Adams argued the statement he 

signed on November 19, 2019 was coerced. RP 129. He also 

argued his videotaped statement to Detective Azinger was 

inadmissible because the Detective did not comply with CrR 

3.l . RP 133. 

The trial court allowed both the written statement and the 

videotaped statement. CP 80-82. Officer Sand testified to Mr. 

Adams' statements at trial and dictated Mr. Adams' two page 

statement. RP 543-55, Trial Exhibit 2. The video of Detective 

Azinger's interrogation was played at trial. Trial Ex. 1, RP 599. 

Mr. Adams testified and denied touching D.A.T. RP 648-

686. 
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The jury convicted him of second degree child 

molestation and second degree incest. CP 119-120. 

On appeal, Mr. Adams argued, among other things, that 

(1) the trial court erred by admitting a coerced written statement 

and (2) the trial court erred by admitting a videotaped statement 

obtained without a proper advisement of rights. The prosecution 

argued that the written statement was not coerced and that the 

advisement of rights given before his videotaped statement was 

sufficient. 

The Court of Appeals agreed the written statement was 

coerced but found that its admission was harmless. Slip op. at 

16, 16-18. The Court of Appeals found the incomplete 

advisement was sufficient as it informed Mr. Adams he had the 

right to counsel. Slip op. at 21. 

Mr. Adams moved for reconsideration but the court 

denied Mr. Adams' motion to reconsider without comment. 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 

GRANTED 

This Court should accept review. The Court of Appeals 

was correct in finding a violation of Mr. Adams' constitutional 

rights but erred by finding this error harmless. This Court 

should also address the issue regarding right to counsel 

advisements. Individuals facing a criminal charge have a right 

to be fully advised of their Miranda and CrR 3.1 rights. The 

Court of Appeals erred in finding the lack of CrR 3 .1 

advisement sufficient. These issues are not only significant 

constitutional questions, but also matters of substantial public 

interest. 

1. This Court should accept review to correct the Court 

of Appeals determination that the violation of Mr. 

Adams' constitutional right was harmless. 

a. The Court of Appeals appropriately recognized Mr. 

Adams' constitutional rights were violated. 

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled the police 

improperly obtained a written statement from Mr. Adams. Slip 

op. at 16. The written statement indicated it was made "of [his] 
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own free will and accord" and "swear[s], under oath, that [the] 

statement is true and accurate." Trial Ex. 2. But the statement 

was made and altered multiple times at the request of the 

officer, who pressured Mr. Adams to add to the statement until 

the officer had a "sufficient statement." RP 104. Over objection 

and despite unintelligible portions, the statement was read to 

the jury by an officer who interpreted one line to state "her hand 

touched my penis." Id., RP 99-100. The Court of Appeals 

properly held "the written statement was coercive and the 

document ultimately admitted as Exhibit 2 was not 'voluntarily 

made"' and "implicates Mr. Adams' constitutional right against 

self-incrimination." Slip op. at 16. 

Nonetheless the Court of Appeals refused to reverse Mr. 

Adams' conviction. 

b. The admission of this coerced statement entitles Mr. 

Adams a new and fair trial. 

A constitutional error is presumed prejudicial and 

requires a new trial unless the State proves the error was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Slip op. at 16� State v. 

12 



DeLeon, 185 Wn.2d 478, 487, 374 P.3d 95 (2016). This Court 

has held ''we will vacate a conviction unless it necessarily 

appears, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the misconduct did not 

affect the verdict." Id. ( quoting State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 

667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)). The reviewing court must find 

the State has demonstrated the statement did not contribute to 

the conviction. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 296, 111 

S. Ct. 1246, 1248, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991) ( citing State v. 

Chapman, 386 U.S. 18, 26, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L.3d.2d 705 

(1967))� State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 

(2013). 

In DeLeon, the trial court admitted statements written on 

a jail booking form as proof of gang affiliation. 185 Wn.2d at 

483-84. This Court held that because these statements were 

involuntary, the statements should have been excluded because 

the admission of these statements was contrary to constitutional 

protections. Id. at 487.The prosecution argued that despite the 

constitutional violation, the admission of the statements was 
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harmless because other untainted evidence supported the 

finding of gang affiliation, including testimony from a gang 

expert, jail officers, and eyewitness. Id. at 488. The court held 

that "none of this untainted evidence of gang involvement was 

as strong, direct, or persuasive as admissions made by the 

defendants themselves [by] . . . his or her own clear admission." 

Id. 

Similarly, here, the constitutional error was the improper 

admission of the involuntary written statement. And, like in 

DeLeon, the State similarly provided untainted evidence 

through the testimony of officers and witnesses. But the 

admissions made through Mr. Adams' written statement were 

among the strongest evidence against him. The Court of 

Appeals did not give proper weight to the impact of the 

involuntary statement. "A confession is like no other evidence. 

Indeed, 'the defendant's own confession is probably the most 

probative and damaging evidence that can be admitted against 

him."' Fulminante, 499 U.S.at 280. 
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Here, the written statement presented to the jury is akin 

to a confession to incriminating facts, signed and dated under 

penalty of perjury. Trial Ex. 2. Presented a signed statement 

jurors would rightly believe they were Mr. Adams' own words, 

freely given. They were not. Instead, it was a heavily-head 

edited statement. A statement that was as much the officer's 

words as Mr. Adams. But jurors did not know that. 

The State bears the burden of proving this constitutional 

violation did not matter. They did not do so. Its briefing is silent 

about this burden. See generally Brief of Resp. 26- 35. During 

oral argument, the State's said the admission of the involuntary 

statement was harmless because the Mr. Adams made six 

different statements, "all of [which] varied in at least some 

slight manner." Wash. Ct. of Appeals oral arg., State v. Adams, 

No. 86841-1-I (Nov. 5, 2024), at 16 min., 16 sec. This is 

insufficient. 

Harmless error analysis is not merely a review of the 

sufficiency of the evidence of guilt. State v. Gunderson, 181 
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Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014). Instead, the prosecution 

must prove the jury in this case would have reached the same 

verdict absent the error. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 

119 S. Ct. 1827, 1838, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999). 

The State argued the admission of this involuntary 

statement was harmless because it could have made the same 

arguments without the written statement. Wash. Ct. of Appeals 

oral arg., State v. Adams, No. 86841-1-I (Nov. 5, 2024), at 16 

min., 16 sec. But, Mr. Adams's own involuntarily obtained 

statement provided key evidence bolstering the arguments made 

by the State. Even when a jury is instructed to disregard a 

confession by a defendant in a criminal case, the U.S. Supreme 

Court has held that "[ c ]onfessions have profound impact on the 

jury, so much so that we may justifiably doubt its ability to put 

them out of mind even if told to do so." Fulminante, 499 U.S. at 

296 (quoting Brunton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 139-140, 

88 S. Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968)). Statements from a 

defendant in a criminal case carry great weight with the jury. 
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And here, there was no instruction to the jury about how the 

jury could use Mr. Adam's statement. Instead, the jury heard an 

involuntary and heavily-edited statement signed under penalty 

of perjury by Mr. Adams, admitting to self-incriminating and 

highly prejudicial facts. Additionally, because memories fades 

with the passage of time, a memorialized statement would have 

great weight with a jury. Any reasonable juror would likely rely 

on Mr. Adams' written involuntary statement when considering 

the other evidence presented at trial. 

c. Given the severity of the violation and the weight of this 

admissible evidence, this Court should accept review. 

The Court of Appeals did not properly apply the 

necessary standard. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the 

error harmless. Such a ruling is appropriate only "for small 

errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having 

changed the result of the trial." Chapman, 386 U.S. at 22. The 

opinion is contrary to controlling decision of this Court and the 

United States Supreme Court. Affirming a conviction despite 
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this significant constitutional violation is an issue of substantial 

public interest. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4. 

2. This Court should accept review to correct the Court 

of Appeals misinterpretation of a proper advisement. 

Miranda warnings are sufficient to advise a defendant of 

his right to counsel under the Fifth Amendment. But CrR 

3 .1 ( c )(1) is directed at the Sixth Amendment right counsel. CrR 

3 .1 provides: 

When a person is arrested he or she shall as soon 

as practicable be advised of the right to a lawyer. 

Such advice shall be made in words easily 

understood, and it should be stated expressly that a 

person who is unable to pay a lawyer is entitled to 

have one provided without charge. 

CrR 3 .1 ( c )(1 ). The advisement must be given as soon as a 

defendant is taken into custody and must adequately convey to 

a defendant the right to contact counsel at any. CrR 3 .1 (b )(1 ). 

The Washington Criminal Rules expand this right by 

guaranteeing the right to counsel "as soon as feasible after the 

defendant is taken into custody, appears before a committing 

magistrate, or is formally charged, whichever occurs earliest." 
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CrR 3. l (b)(l ); Heinemann v. Whitman County, 105 Wn.2d 796, 

803, 718 P.2d 789 (1986). 

In both State v. Kirkpatrick, 89 Wn. App. 407, 948 P.2d 

882 (1997) and State v. Templeton, 148 Wn.2d 193, 59 P.3d 

632 (2002), courts held a valid waiver under Miranda does not 

serve the same purpose as a waiver under CrR 3 .1. CrR 3 .1 was 

designed to provide a meaningful opportunity to contact a 

lawyer, while Miranda "is designed to prevent the State from 

using presumptively coerced and involuntary statements against 

criminal defendants." Kirkpatrick, 89 Wn. App. at 413-14. 

The Court of Appeals erred when it concluded that 

simply including the phrase "at this time" to the Miranda 

warnings would suffice. Slip op. 20-21. While "at this time" 

does serve to clarify any confusion about when a person is 

entitled to counsel, it does not expressly inform the person that 

an attorney could immediately be provided free of charge. 

Detective Azinger' s own department issued advisement 

card told him the advisement was required. The card provided: 
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Regardless of Miranda applicability, Washington State 

requires that the following advisement be given to every 

person taken in -- into custody: You have the right to 

counsel. If you are unable to pay for counsel, you're 

entitled to have one provided without charge. 

RP 118. Detective Azinger did not read the CrR 3 .1 advisement 

to Mr. Adams. Id. He testified he never complies with that 

commandment of Washington law because it was not required 

"based on [his] training." RP 119. 

Because the videotaped statement was obtained in 

violation of CrR 3 .1, the remedy is "suppression of evidence 

tainted by the violation." State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 

282, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). The entire videotaped statement 

was tainted and should have been suppressed. This Court 

should accept review and clarify that individuals are entitled to 

a full advisement of rights. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The opinion of the Court of Appeals is contrary to this 

Court's decision, is contrary to decisions of the United States 

20 



Supreme Court and is a matter of substantial public interest. 

This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4. 

This document contains 3442 words (word count by 

Microsoft Word) and complies with RAP 18.17. 

Respectfully submitted this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Ester Garcia, WSBA 55380 
Washington Appellate Project, 91052 
Attorneys for Appellant 

21 



F I LED 
1 /27/2025 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WAS H I N GTON 

STATE OF WAS H I NGTO N ,  

Respondent ,  

V .  

MICHAEL SHAWN ADAMS ,  

Appel lant .  

No. 8684 1 - 1 - 1 

D IVIS ION ONE  

U N P U BL ISHED O P I N ION 

HAZELRIGG ,  A. C . J .  - M ichael Adams appeals h is j u ry convict ion for one 

count each of ch i ld molestat ion i n  the second deg ree and incest i n  the second 

deg ree , chal leng ing severa l ru l i ngs of the tria l  cou rt ,  pr imari ly evident iary ru l i ngs ,  

and argu ing that the issuance of  the noncorroborat ion instruct ion constituted an 

improper comment on the evidence .  He also ass igns error to the court's decis ion 

to treat the convictions separate ly for pu rposes of h is offender score at sentenc ing 

and imposit ion of the vict im pena lty assessment (VPA) . We affi rm i n  part ,  reverse 

i n  part ,  and remand to stri ke the VPA. 

FACTS 

A 1 is a stepch i ld of M ichael Adams.  Adams and h is wife ,  Sunsh ine ,  2 were 

married i n  September 20 1 8  and they l ived together with the i r  th ree ch i ld ren after 

1 The ch i ld  has a d ifferent legal name than that used at tria l .  Th is op in ion uses the fi rst 
i n it ia l  of h is chosen name.  

2 Because they share the same last name,  we wi l l  refer to M ichael Adams by h is last name 
and use Sunsh i ne's fi rst name for clarity .  No d isrespect is i ntended . 
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that. Sunshine had two children, including A, when she met Adams, and the couple 

later had another child together. Adams was involved in A's l ife since A was about 

6 or 7 years old and was the primary father figure in his l ife before A's biological 

father, Joseph Taylor, reengaged with his child. Taylor began visitation when A 

was around 7, and then A split time between Sunshine's and Taylor's homes. 

On November 1 6 , 201 9, Adams, Sunshine, and the children, including A, 

who was 1 3  years old at the time, went to an exhibit at the county fa ir and had 

dinner at home. Sunshine had three or four shots of alcohol around 7:00 p .m.  after 

dinner. Adams had been drinking all day. Adams and Sunshine regularly drank 

after dinner, "not every day, but quite often."  After putting the children to bed on 

the date of the incident, Adams went downstairs and Sunshine went to bed . At 

around 8:30 p .m. ,  Adams and A were both seated on the couch in the living room, 

watching TV. At trial, A testified that Adams rested his hand on A's thigh and then, 

half an hour later, Adams asked A if he would promise not to tell anyone about 

something. A agreed and Adams then took A's left hand and put it under the robe 

on his "groin area," and A noted that Adams was not wearing anything underneath 

his robe. A said that he was "startled" and ripped his hand back, and Adams 

apologized and asked him not to tell anybody. A panicked and immediately went 

into the bathroom to text Taylor to come get h im.  Taylor called 91 1 to report the 

incident to the Vancouver Pol ice Department (VPD) and picked A up. 

VPD Officer Joshua Sand responded to Taylor's house, and spoke to A and 

Taylor. Sand took photos of the text messages between A and Taylor about the 

incident. Sand and VPD Officer Cody Esau then went to Adams' house, and as 
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they approached the house, they overheard a male voice say, "I don't like anything 

that happened tonight. And I'm going to go to jai l ,  and I need to call the cops." The 

male voice the officers heard was later identified as Adams. Sand and Esau then 

contacted Adams at the front door, who granted them permission to enter the 

house. When Sand asked Adams if he knew why they were there, Adams 

responded , "Yes, about the incident with [A]." Adams and Sand spoke for about 

thirty minutes in the open kitchen and living room area. Adams sat down while 

Sand stood approximately five feet away; Sand did not restrain Adams' 

movements in any way or place him under arrest. 

During the interview with Sand at his house, Adams initially told Sand that 

A had cuddled up next to him on the couch before starting to grab Adams' chest, 

leg, and eventually touching Adams' penis. When Sand asked why A would be 

startled if A was the one who initiated the touching, Adams responded by saying 

that "they had a conversation about, you know, how that wasn't okay, and [he] 

shouldn't do that" and stated, " I  wouldn't do that. We weren't-it's not like we were 

getting hot and heavy on the couch." As the conversation progressed, Sand asked 

fo llow-up questions to clarify the situation ;  Sand asked, " Is that when [A] touched 

your chest?" and Adams, appearing confused, replied, "Wel l ,  that never happened. 

I never did that." From that point on, Adams repeatedly stated that nothing of the 

sort had occurred, adding that he had been drinking al l  day and did not remember 

everything. Sand then asked Adams if he wanted to provide a written statement 

and Adams agreed. His first statement was a brief paragraph that did not mention 

A touching h im,  and Sand asked him to "include his recollection of what happened 

- 3 -
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about [A] touch ing h im . "  Adams took the statement back and wrote another 

parag raph , but the statement sti l l  d id not i nc lude h is i nteract ion with [A] that n ight .  

Sand asked aga in  for Adams to i nc lude deta i ls about h is reco l lect ion of that n ig ht's 

events . Adams added another sentence that said , "We were uncomfortable when 

it happened . "  Sand then asked h im aga in  to exp la in  what happened between h im 

and A. , and  Adams wrote , " [he] touched my p ines , "  spel led p- i-n-e-s . Sand 

confi rmed that "p i nes" referred to "pen is . "  Adams rewrote h is statement th ree 

t imes before Sand accepted and s ig ned it .  Adams d id not ask for an attorney or 

request that the question i ng stop .  The officers d id not arrest Adams that even ing . 

On December 4 ,  20 1 9 , VPD Detective J im  Azinger ca l led Adams and asked 

h im to come to the VPD stat ion to d iscuss the matter fu rther . When Adams arrived , 

Azinger formal ly arrested h im and read h im Miranda3 warn ings from Azinger's 

department- issued card , which stated , 

You have the rig ht to remain s i lent . Anyth ing you say can be used 
aga inst you in a court of law. You have a rig ht at th is t ime to ta lk to a 
lawyer and have h im present with you wh i le you ' re be ing questioned . 
If you cannot afford to h i re a lawyer, one wi l l  be appoi nted to 
represent you before any question i ng ,  if you wish .  You can decide at 
any t ime to exercise these rig hts and not answer any quest ions or 
make any statements . 

Azinger then asked Adams the fo l lowing two questions :  "Do you understand each 

of the rig hts I have exp la i ned to you?" and , "Having these rig hts in m i nd , do you 

wish to ta lk to me at th is t ime?" Adams rep l ied "Yes" to both questions .  After that, 

Azinger tu rned on the aud io and video record ing device , i nformed Adams that he 

was under arrest, exp la i ned the charges aga inst h im ,  and then read the Miranda 

3 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U . S .  436, 86 S .  Ct. 1 602 , 1 6  L. Ed .  2d 694 ( 1 966) .  
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warnings again. As he had during the initial interview with Sand, Adams asserted 

to Azinger that he had been drinking al l  day before the incident. He also stated 

that A was wearing a bathrobe that exposed his bare chest and he told A to cover 

himself before he sat down next to Adams. Adams claimed to have fal len asleep 

on the couch, only to wake up when A suddenly got up and said he needed some 

air. At one point, Adams requested to speak to an attorney and Azinger ceased 

questioning. The State charged Adams with one count each of child molestation 

in the second degree and incest in the second degree for the same act committed 

against A on November 1 6 , 201 9. 

Before trial, Adams moved to suppress both the signed statement and the 

video interview, cla iming that the written statement had been coerced and the 

interview with Azinger was inadmissible because of the detective's fa i lure to 

comply with CrR 3. 1 .  The court conducted a hearing under CrR 3.5 on May 1 2, 

2022 to determine the admissibil ity of Adams' statements to police and Esau, 

Sand, and Azinger all testified. Sand said that Adams did not appear to be under 

the influence of drugs or alcohol ,  although he seemed flustered, cried, fidgeted, 

and avoided making eye contact. He further testified that Adams cooperated with 

the interview and did not seem disoriented. Sand also confirmed that he neither 

threatened nor promised anything to Adams during their interaction. Azinger 

admitted at the CrR 3.5 hearing that he fa iled to read Adams the following warning 

that was also printed on his department-issued card: "You have the right to 

counsel. If you are unable to pay for counsel, you're entitled to have one provided 

without charge." He acknowledged that his card instructed h im,  "Regardless of 
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Miranda applicabi lity, Washington State requires that the fo llowing advisement be 

given to every person taken into custody." Azinger stated that he "never read the 

back side" of the card because "based on [his) training," he did not believe it was 

necessary. 

The trial court denied Adams' motion to suppress and both the written 

statement and videotaped interrogation were admitted at trial. On February 1 6, 

2023, the jury found Adams guilty on both counts. Adams submitted a sentencing 

memorandum that asked the court to treat the two counts as same criminal 

conduct for purposes of calculating his offender score. On March 3,  the trial court 

found the crimes were not the same criminal conduct and sentenced him to 34 

months in prison,  followed by 36 months of community custody. The court found 

Adams was indigent, but imposed the VPA and DNA collection fee ,  which were 

both mandatory at the time. 

Adams timely appealed . 

ANALYSIS 

I .  Admission o f  Written Statement 

Adams challenges the trial court's admission of the written statement that 

he was asked to supplement three times (Exhibit 2). He contends that the 

statement was involuntary, the result of police coercion, and implies that his 

intoxication contributed to its involuntariness. We agree. 

During oral argument before this court, the State conceded that the findings 

of fact and conclusions of law entered after the CrR 3.5 hearing were prepared by 
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the State and s ig ned by the j udge without mod ification . 4 U nder CrR 3 . 5 ,  it is the 

court's respons ib i l ity to create a clear and i ndependent record of its fi nd i ngs and 

conclus ions .  Wh i le it is common practice for the preva i l i ng  party to prepare 

proposed fi nd i ngs and conclus ions ,  the court must review them for accu racy and 

correct them as needed prior to entry .  Here ,  the tria l  cou rt adopted the fo l lowing 

fi nd i ngs of fact : 

1 . 5 Officer Sand ind icated the Defendant d id not appear to be 
under the i nfl uence of any substances . 

1 .  7 Officer Sand asked clarifyi ng quest ions regard i ng the 
statement based on the prior i nterview. Defendant made 
add itions to the statement. 

1 . 8 Officer Sand d id not request that the Defendant change h is 
statement. 

The tria l  cou rt made the fo l lowing conclus ions of law: 

2 . 3  Viewing the tota l ity of the c i rcumstance surround ing Officer 
Sand [ ' ]s i nterview i n  Defendant's home on November 1 6 , 
20 1 9 , the court fi nds the i nterview was not coercive and was 
not in custody. The statements are adm iss ib le under CrR 3 . 5 .  

2 .4  The  written statement made by  Defendant on November 1 6 , 
20 1 9  was vo luntari ly made and is therefore adm iss ib le .  

At the t ime the court entered its CrR 3 .5 fi nd ings ,  Adams objected to fi nd ings of 

fact (FF) 1 . 7 and 1 . 8 .  On appea l ,  he ass igns error to FF  1 . 5 ,  1 . 7 ,  and 1 . 8 ,  and 

conclus ions of law (CL) 2 . 3  and 2 .4 .  

4 Wash .  Ct. o f  Appea ls ora l  arg . ,  State v. Adams, N o .  8684 1 - 1 - 1 (Nov.  5 ,  2024) ,  a t  1 0  m in . ,  
2 0  sec. , video recording by TVW, Wash ington State's Pu b l ic  Affa i rs Network, https ://tvw.org/ 
video/d ivis ion-1 -court-of-appeals-2024 1 1 1 1 1 5/?event I D=2024 1 1 1 1 1 5 . 
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A. Standard of Review on Motion to Suppress 

On appeal from a ruling on a motion to suppress, we review the trial court's 

conclusions of law de novo. See State v. Mendez, 1 37 Wn.2d 208, 2 1 4, 970 P .2d 

722 (1 999), abrogated on other grounds by Brend/in v. California, 551 U .S .  249, 

1 27 S. Ct. 2400, 1 68 L. Ed. 2d 1 32 (2007)). When reviewing the denial of a 

suppression motion, an appel late court evaluates whether substantial evidence 

supports the challenged findings of fact and whether the findings support the 

conclusions of law. State v. Garvin, 1 66 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1 266 (2009). 

Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational 

person of the truth of the finding. State v. Reid, 98 Wn. App. 1 52, 1 56, 988 P.2d 

1 038 (1 999). "[F]indings of fact entered fo llowing a CrR 3.5 hearing wil l be verities 

on appeal if unchallenged;  and, if challenged, they are verities if supported by 

substantial evidence in the record." State v. Broadaway, 1 33 Wn.2d 1 1 8 , 1 31 ,  942 

P.2d 363 (1 997). 

"Whether a confession is free and voluntary is not determined by whether 

the officer's conduct is shocking or the confession is cruelly extorted,  but whether 

it was extracted by any sort of threat, violence, or direct or implied promises, 

however slight. A confession that is product of coercion ,  physical or psychological, 

is involuntary and not admissible." State v. Riley, 1 7  Wn. App. 732, 735, 565 P.2d 

1 05 (1 977); see a/so Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U .S .  534, 81 S.  Ct. 735, 5 L .  Ed. 

2d 760 (1 961 ) .  The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees 

the right against compelled self-incrimination, which requires police to inform a 

suspect of their Miranda rights before a custodial interrogation .  State v. 

- 8 -



No. 86841 -1 -1/9 

Cunningham, 1 1 6 Wn. App. 21 9, 226, 65 P .3d 325 (2003). To determine whether 

the suspect is in custody, courts apply an objective test: "whether a reasonable 

person in a suspect's position would have fe lt that [their] freedom was curtailed to 

the degree associated with a formal arrest." State v. Heritage, 1 52 Wn.2d 21 0, 

2 18 ,  95 P .3d 345 (2004). In  contrast, a routine investigative encounter, supported 

by reasonable suspicion, does not require Miranda warnings. See, e.g., State v. 

Hilliard, 89 Wn.2d 430, 573 P.2d 22 (1 977); State v. Mercer, 45 Wn. App. 769, 727 

P.2d 676 (1 986); State v. Phu Huynh, 49 Wn. App. 1 92, 201 , 742 P .2d 1 60 (1 987). 

Investigative encounters are not inherently coercive since they are temporary, 

brief, and typically less "police dominated." State v. Walton, 67 Wn. App. 1 27, 1 30,  

834 P .2d 624 (1 992); see also State v. Hensler, 1 09 Wn.2d 357, 362-63, 745 P.2d 

34 (1 987). 

1 . Findings of Fact and Substantial Evidence 

Here, we review the trial court's decision after a CrR 3.5 hearing by 

examining whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact 

and whether those findings support the conclusions of law. Adams claims that the 

trial court did not explicitly apply the totality of circumstances test and ultimately 

made findings unsupported by the record . He contends that his statement should 

have been suppressed because FF 1 .7 and 1 .8 are not supported by substantial 

evidence. The State argues that mere requests for clarification do not amount to 

coercion .  The State further asserts that substantial evidence supports FF 1 .7 and 

1 .8 because the heading of the statement form that Adams signed stated the 

fo llowing: " I ,  Michael Adams, . . .  make the fo llowing statement of my own free will 
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and accord . No th reats , p rom ises , or  offers of g ratu ity or  immun ity have been made 

to me nor was vio lence used i n  obta i n i ng th is statement of facts . "  The prepri nted 

language on a written statement form , s ig ned by a person who repeated ly and 

consistently asserted he had been d ri nking , is not determ inative here .  Aga i n ,  the 

chal lenged FFs are :  

1 . 5 Officer Sand ind icated the Defendant d id not appear to be 
under the i nfl uence of any substances . 

1 .  7 Officer Sand asked clarifyi ng quest ions regard i ng the 
statement based on the prior i nterview. Defendant made 
add itions to the statement. 

1 . 8 Officer Sand d id not request that the Defendant change h is 
statement. 

In b riefing , Adams effective ly adm its that FF  1 . 5 is supported by the record , 

recogn iz ing that " it is true Officer Sand said [Adams] 'd id  not appear to be 

i ntoxicated . "' Aga i n ,  Adams cla ims that he had been d ri nking al l day and Sand 

repeated ly asked h im to i nc lude deta i ls he was re luctant to provide in h is written 

statement. Sand and Esau both testified that they d id not observe s igns of 

impa i rment, 5 but the i r  test imony was also consistent that Adams d id i n  fact te l l  

5 Sand also testified that wh i le he has  been tra i ned to  recogn ize intoxication ,  u n less "the 
case specifica l ly i nvolves that, " offering as an example the investigation of suspected d rivi ng wh i le  
u nder the i nfl uence, i t wou ld  not  be part of  h is  i nvestigat ion to determ ine if someone was 
intoxicated . As to th is case in particu larly ,  he said "at the t ime it d idn 't seem l i ke it was someth ing  
I needed to  know or investigate more thorough ly . "  H is assertion on th is  po in t  is objective ly i ncorrect. 

Assessing a person 's level of in toxicat ion is often re levant and appropriate in a l l  manner of 
crim ina l  cases as it can affect the cred ib i l ity of statements ,  the vo lun tari ness of consent, and the 
ab i l ity to reca l l  events accu rately .  See State v. Cuzzetto, 76 Wn .2d 378,  457 P.2d 204 ( 1 969) 
( in toxicat ion may render statements to law enforcement i nvol u ntary) ; State v. Russell, 1 25 Wn .2d 
24, 82-85 ,  882 P .2d 747 ( 1 994) (evidence of in toxication by d rug use at t ime of i ncident that is the 
subject of testimony may be used to impeach witness cred ib i l ity) ; State v .  Thomas, 1 23 Wn . App .  
771 , 776-82 , 98 P . 3d 1 258 (2004) (expla i n i ng legal d ist inct ions between affi rmative defenses of 
d im i n ished capacity and vo l u ntary intoxication ) ;  State v. Meza , 26 Wn . App. 2d 604, 623, 529 P . 3d 
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Sand that he had been d ri nking that day. FF  1 . 5 is rooted in  Sand's own perception 

of Adams and does not i nd icate that Adams had not consumed alcoho l ,  on ly that 

Sand d id not bel ieve that Adams was impa i red at the t ime of the i n it ia l  i nterview. 

FF 1 . 5 rests upon Sand's test imony and is therefore supported by substant ial 

evidence .  

With regard to  FF  1 .  7 ,  which reads ,  "Officer Sand asked clarify ing questions 

regard i ng the statement based on the prior i nterview. Defendant made add itions 

to the statement , "  Adams points out that Sand testified he asked "clarifyi ng" 

quest ions du ring the i r  conversation ,  before aski ng Adams to write a statement. 

Adams asserts that it was i n  response to these clarify ing quest ions that he said he 

d id not remember A g rabb ing h is pen is .  Adams is correct that the court's fi nd ing  

that Sand on ly asked clarify ing quest ions does not clearly or  comprehens ive ly 

captu re Sand's own test imony regard i ng the amendments of Adams' written 

statement. The fo l lowi ng exchange occu rred du ring Sand's d i rect examination at 

the CrR 3 . 5  hearing : 

[State] : D id you-d id he make the i n it ia l  writ ing-or d id he write it out 
h imself? 

[Sand ] :  Yes . 

[State] : When you reviewed it , was it cons istent with what he had to ld 
you at that poi nt? 

[Sand ] :  So he wrote-the fi rst th ing he wrote was a pretty short 
parag raph , and it d id n't have any of the i nformation regard i ng [A] 

398 (2023) (fact of decedent's in toxication ,  supported by testimony about toxicology from med ical 
examiner, was crit ica l evidence i n  self-defense to mu rder charge) .  

Pol ice officers tasked with the investigation of crimes for prosecution by the government 
should be educated on the s igns of impairment ,  document them when observed , and cons ider 
apparent i n toxicat ion whenever it may impact the c i rcumstances or the i nterpretation of the 
person 's actions and statements .  
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grabbing his penis, which I felt was an important thing to note since 
he had told me his statement. So I was l ike ,  "Hey, you should put 
something in there-you know, whatever statement you want to 
make about that, make sure that's in there because that's an 
important part to your statement." So he took i t  back and he wrote 
another paragraph. 

And he said, " I 'm finished,"  and handed it  to me.  I reviewed it 
again. And a second time it didn't state anything about his interaction 
with [A] that night. So I just confirmed again. I was l ike ,  "This is­
wel l ,  why I need your statement is your recollection of events 
happening tonight." 

So he said he-he would do it again, and he wrote down, I 
believe, a sentence that said, "We were uncomfortable when it 
happened." 

I asked him again, "You're not explaining what happened 
between you and [A] as far as [A] touching and grabbing you."  

So he grabbed it one more time and wrote down, "[A] touched 
my pines, p-i-n-e-s." I confirmed with him what that meant, and he 
said that-that [A] had touched his penis. 

[State]: And you asked some clarification questions, but did you 
make any threats or-or promises as he wrote that? 

[Sand] : No.  1-1 strictly just asked h im,  " I-we need your statement 
about the specific situation. So just write whatever you want about 
what your statement-what you want your statement to be." 

This testimony shows that Sand did ask Adams clarifying questions and therefore 

supports FF  1 .7 .  

However, Sand's own testimony, which supports FF 1 .7, directly and 

repeatedly contradicts FF  1 .8. While the court made no express credibi l ity findings 

with regard to Sand or Esau's testimony, the findings that were entered establish 

that it found both to be credible. As such, we grapple with the extensive testimony 

from Sand, e licited by both the prosecutor and Adams' counsel, that undercuts FF  

1 .8. Sand's own testimony establishes that he repeatedly requested amendments 

to the voluntary written statement because the first three versions did not satisfy 
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h im.  This is despite the fact that Sand later testified on redirect that the purpose 

of obtaining a written statement from a witness or suspect is for "whoever is writing 

the statement to put in what they want-I guess, what legally they want their official 

statement to be to the police." (Emphasis added .) On cross-examination ,  Sand 

made the following admissions: 

[Defense]: So why did you have him rewrite his statement 
twice? 

[Sand] : I believe it was four times I had him add to his statement 
because he wasn't explaining the actual situation that happened with 
[A]. 

[Defense]: So first you gave him a chance to write a voluntary 
statement; isn't that right? 

[Sand] : Correct. 

[Defense]: You didn't like it or you weren't satisfied because it didn't 
suit your purpose, so you had him do it again. 

[Sand] : Well ,  I told him that what-what he first told me, that [A] had 
touched his penis, was an important part of the investigation and him 
not putting in that or him saying that he forgot or he doesn't 
remember or it didn't happen-that his statement about his 
recollection of those events was important, and I wanted him to put 
that in there. 

[Defense]: Okay. So he tried again, but it still didn't satisfy you so you 
had to write him a third time [sic], correct? 

[Sand] : Correct. 

[Defense]: Right? And then that still didn't satisfy you so you had him 
write a fourth t ime. 

[Sand] : Correct. 

(Some alterations in original) (emphasis added). And on re-cross-examination ,  

Sand again conceded that h is insistence on the revisions was in furtherance of his 
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goal of obtaining a particu lar response from Adams. Defense counsel inquired 

about the statement after the final revision, where Adams added that A touched 

his penis, and asked, "You were satisfied for your purposes and you felt l ike you 

could leave at that point?" Sand responded, "I fe lt like we had his sufficient 

statement and we left." (Emphasis added.) He had finally obtained not "what 

[Adams] legally . . .  want[ed his] official statement to police to be ," but a statement 

that Sand fe lt was "sufficient" for his investigation. On further re-cross­

examination, Sand provided a contradictory final answer: 

[Defense]: Isn't it fa ir to say that you wanted him to write what you 
wanted him to write? 

[Sand] : No,  not what I wanted him to write . But / wanted him to 
explain what he remembers about [A] touching his penis. 

(Emphasis added.) Careful review of the transcript of the CrR 3.5 hearing clearly 

establishes that FF  1 .8 is not only unsupported by substantial evidence, it is 

directly contradicted. 

2 .  De Novo Review of Conclusions of Law 

We next consider whether the conclusions Adams challenges, CL 2.3 and 

2.4, are reasonably supported by the findings of fact for which there is substantial 

evidence. Again ,  they read as fo llows: 

2.3 Viewing the total ity of the circumstance surrounding Officer 
Sand's interview in Defendant's home on November 1 6, 201 9, 
the court finds the interview was not coercive and was not in 
custody. The statements are admissible under CrR 3.5. 

2.4 The written statement made by Defendant on November 1 6, 
201 9 was voluntarily made and is therefore admissible. 
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F i rst, without exp l icitly so stat ing , these two conclus ions appear to separate ly refer 

to the verbal statements Adams made to Sand and Esau , and the written statement 

u lt imate ly adm itted as Exh ib it 2 .  Next , CL  2 . 3  is framed as a fi nd ing of fact i n  that 

the court ,  by adopting the fi nd i ngs and concl us ions d rafted by the State without 

mod ification ,  expressly notes that "the court finds the i nterview was not coercive . "  

(Emphasis added . )  However, because CL 2 . 3  ends with a number of legal 

conclus ions ,  we nonethe less cons ider it de novo . 

The record conta ins unchal lenged fi nd i ngs that estab l ish Adams g ranted 

Sand and Esau perm iss ion to enter h is home, the i nterview was conducted in the 

kitchen , and the officers d id not restrict Adams' movements . Uncha l lenged 

fi nd i ngs are verities on appea l .  See Broadaway, 1 33 Wn .2d at 1 3 1 .  It is also true 

Sand and Esau both testified that they were in un iform and armed du ring the i r  

contact with Adams i n  h is home and , under those c i rcumstances a lone ,  a 

reasonable person i n  Adams' posit ion m ight have fe lt that the i r  freedom was 

restricted to the deg ree associated with a formal arrest, particu larly if they were 

under the i nfl uence . 6 State v. Watkins, 53 Wn . App .  264 , 274 ,  766 P .2d 484 

( 1 989) . I n  fact , Sand testified that ,  at one poi nt ,  before he asked for a written 

statement, Adams stated , "Wel l ,  you can just take me to ja i l  because I 'm  . . . .  " 

Nonethe less , read ing th is conclus ion as solely add ress ing the verbal statements 

Adams made to Sand prior to the i nvitat ion to provide a written statement, CL  2 . 3  

6 Whi le we concl ude ,  and Adams conceded i n  briefi ng ,  that FF  1 . 5 i s  supported by Sand's 
testimony,  we note that Adams does not cite any case law to l i n k  h is  a l leged i ntoxicat ion to pol ice 
coercion that wou ld  undercut the tria l  cou rt's concl us ion of law on th is issue .  The on ly  re levant 
case he offers is State v. Unga , which d iscusses factors potentially re levant i n  a tota l ity of the 
c i rcumstances analysis, such as the defendant's phys ica l  cond ition .  1 65 Wn .2d 95 ,  1 0 1 ,  1 96 P . 3d 
645 (2008) . Aga i n ,  FF  1 . 5 merely reflects the perceptions of the officer and appears to have been 
appropriately cons idered by the tria l  cou rt in reach ing th is concl us ion of law. 
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is supported by appropriate findings of fact and those statements to which Sand 

and Esau testified at trial were properly admitted .  

Applying the totality of the circumstances test to the record from the trial 

court, including the supported findings, we hold that CL 2.4 does not reasonably 

flow from the facts established at the CrR 3.5 hearing. While it is true that Adams' 

written statement was not extracted by any act of violence or explicit threat or direct 

or implied promises, the record establishes that Sand's consistent pressure and 

redirection influenced Adams' three revisions. Riley notes psychological factors 

can affect voluntariness of the suspect's statements. 1 7  Wn. App. at 735. As set 

out in detail in section 1 . , supra, there is extensive testimony from Sand, el icited 

on both direct and cross-examination, that establishes that the portion of the 

interview in Adams' home regarding the written statement was coercive and the 

document ultimately admitted as Exhibit 2 was not "voluntarily made." Therefore, 

Exhibit 2 was not admissible and should have been suppressed. 

B .  Harmless Error Analysis 

Adams argues the erroneous admission of Exhibit 2 should be evaluated 

under the constitutional harmless error standard and that reversal is required 

because it was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

"[l]f trial error is of constitutional magnitude, prejudice is presumed and the 

State bears the burden of proving it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." 

State v. Coristine,  1 77 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (201 3). Here, the error is of 

constitutional magnitude as it implicates Adams' constitutional right against self­

incrimination. To determine whether the same verdict would have been reached, 
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th is cou rt considers the '" u nta i nted evidence adm itted at tria l  to determ ine if it is so 

overwhe lm ing that it necessari ly leads to a fi nd ing  of gu i lt . "' State v. Thompson, 

1 5 1 Wn .2d 793 , 808 , 92 P . 3d 228 (2004) (quoti ng State v. Smith , 1 48 Wn .2d 1 22 ,  

1 39 ,  5 9  P . 3d 74 (2002)) . 

Adams contends that had h is written statement to Sand been suppressed , 

the State wou ld not have been able to argue at tria l  that Adams made mu lt ip le 

confl ict ing statements , and there wou ld have been no i nference with which to 

underm ine Adams' cred ib i l ity . However, Adams fa i ls to add ress how adm iss ion of 

Exh ib it 2 specifica l ly affected the outcome of the tria l ,  g iven that Sand was able to 

testify to the enti rety of the i n it ia l  i nterview, prior to the request for a written 

statement, d u ring which Adams gave mu lt ip le vers ions of events . Th is is 

compounded by Azinger's test imony about the custod ial i nterrogation at the pol ice 

station ,  where Adams' reco l lect ion of events varied even fu rther . Add it ional ly ,  

Sand testified that he was unable to identify the various revis ions with i n  the written 

statement, so the document itself apparently d id not reflect the d ifferent add itions 

that Adams made after each of Sand's repeated requests for supp lementation . 

Du ring oral  argument before th is cou rt ,  Adams chal lenged the manner i n  

which the  evidence was presented to the j u ry ,  critic iz i ng the  "theatrics i n  cou rt" 

when Sand opened a sealed evidence envelope and unve i led the written 

statement i n  open court .  7 However, he d id not exp la in  how these pu rported 

theatrics u lt imate ly impacted the outcome of the tria l .  I n  response , the State 

averred that there was noth ing improper about th is method of tria l  advocacy and 

7 Wash .  Ct .  of  Appeals oral arg . ,  supra, at 5 m in . ,  22 sec. 
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under any comb ination of suppress ion , either adm ission of the video i nterview with 

Azinger or  the written statement to Sand and Esau ,  the outcome of tria l  wou ld have 

remained the same . The State poi nted out that Adams made six confl ict ing 

statements i n  tota l :  two verbal statements to Sand , one written statement ,  one to 

Sunsh ine to which she testified at tria l ,  one to Azinger ,  and h is own tria l  test imony. 8 

The State is correct . Each of these statements provided ample g rounds for the 

State to argue that Adams was incons istent and , th us ,  lacked cred ib i l ity . In l i ght 

of th is record , even without Exh ib it 2 ,  sufficient evidence existed for the State to 

h igh l ig ht Adams' confl ict ing statements and impeach h is cred ib i l ity , part icu larly i n  

comparison to  A's vers ion of events , which remained consistent from the fi rst 

report to Taylor th rough test imony at tria l .  Because the unta i nted evidence 

adm itted at tria l  was overwhe lm ing and necessari ly led to a fi nd ing  of gu i lt ,  we hold 

that the adm iss ion of the written statement was harm less beyond a reasonable 

doubt .  

I I .  Notice of Right to Counsel 

Adams next re l ies on CrR 3 . 1 to argue that h is videotaped i nterrogation 

shou ld have been suppressed and h is statement to Azinger was inadm iss ib le 

because the Miranda warn ings from Azinger's department-issued card d id not 

exp l icitly advise Adams of h is rig ht to a lawyer and , if he cou ld not afford one ,  

counsel wou ld be provided at pub l ic  expense .  Specifica l ly ,  he ass igns error to FF  

1 . 1 2 , which states , "Detective Azinger read the  Miranda warn ings from h is 

department issued card . "  He fu rther chal lenges CL 2 . 6  that states , "No case law 

8 Wash .  Ct. of Appeals oral arg . ,  supra, at 1 5  m in . ,  46 sec. to 1 6  m in . ,  1 3  sec. 
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was provided to support that the additional warnings in the back of the [d]etective's 

Miranda card was necessary in this case ." The State argues that Azinger's fai lure 

to read the extra warnings on the back of his card does not invalidate the Miranda 

warnings, which comply with CrR 3 . 1  . We agree with the State. 

The Fifth Amendment provides that no person "shall be compelled in any 

criminal case to be a witness against himself." Similarly, article I ,  section 9 of the 

Washington State Constitution is interpreted consistently with the Fifth 

Amendment and requires equivalent protections. See State v. Schoel, 54 Wn.2d 

388, 390, 341 P.2d 481 (1 959). The Sixth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution guarantees the right to assistance of counsel in al l  criminal 

prosecutions, and Washington's Constitution, article I, section 22, provides the 

same right. See State v. Templeton, 1 48 Wn.2d 1 93,  208-09, 59 P.3d 632 (2002). 

CrR 3 . 1  (b)(1 ) states that the "right to a lawyer shall accrue as soon as feasible 

after the defendant has been arrested , appears before a committing magistrate, or 

is formally charged, whichever occurs earliest." The State cannot admit 

statements made by an accused person during custodial interrogation un less there 

were "procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self­

incrimination . "  Miranda, 384 U .S .  at 444. 

Here, Adams does not contest that he was read his Miranda rights at the 

time of his arrest. However, he asserts that Azinger fa iled to immediately advise 

him of his right to an attorney and the right to have an attorney appointed if he 

could not afford one. Azinger testified at the CrR 3.5 hearing that he read the 

fo llowing statement verbatim from his department-issued card: 
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You have the right to remain silent. Anyth ing you say can be used 
against you in a court of law. You have a right at this time to talk to a 
lawyer and have him present with you while you're being questioned. 
If you cannot afford to hire a lawyer, one wil l be appointed to 
represent you before any questioning, if you wish. You can decide at 
any time to exercise these rights and not answer any questions or 
make any statements. 

(Emphasis added.) As a preliminary matter, CL 2.6 is not a conclusion of law. 

Again,  it reads, "No case law was provided to support that the additional warnings 

in the back of the [d]etective's Miranda card was necessary in this case ." This is 

not a statement of the law, but of a procedural fact of this case; it merely conveys 

that neither party provided case law holding that the CrR 3 . 1  advisement must be 

given to a suspect prior to an interview or interrogation. I n  this context, we "review 

a mislabeled finding of fact or conclusion of law for what it really is." State v. Taylor, 

29 Wn. App. 2d 3 19 ,  330, 541 P.3d 1 061 , review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1 003 (2024). 

We apply the substantial evidence standard for a mislabeled conclusion of law that 

is actually a finding of fact. See State v. Conway, 8 Wn. App. 2d 538, 551 -52, 438 

P.3d 1 235 (201 9). Careful review of the record establishes that this accurately 

reflects the argument of the parties on this issue.  Azinger testified that he read the 

Miranda warnings to Adams verbatim from his card. Accordingly, both FF 1 . 1 2  

and the mislabeled CL 2.6 are supported by substantial evidence. 

Both the State and Adams cite State v. Templeton to address the 

proposition that a valid waiver under Miranda does not serve the same purpose as 

a waiver under CrR 3 . 1  (b)(1 ). But only the State further argues that Templeton 

specifica lly states that Miranda advisements satisfy CrR 3 . 1  if they include "at this 

time" in the phrase "you have the right to an attorney." 1 48 Wn.2d at 21 8-20. 

Again,  Azinger's advisement here included that specific language, "You have the 
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rig ht a t  this time to a n  attorney . "  (Emphasis added . )  But Adams's rep ly brief fa i ls 

to add ress how the phrase "you have the rig ht at th is t ime to an attorney" from 

Templeton impacts h is cla im that h is rig ht to counsel was violated under CrR 3 . 1 .  

I n  fact , at oral  argument before th is cou rt ,  Adams conceded as much when the 

court expressly noted the lack of response to the State's argument under 

Templeton that CrR 3 . 1 is satisfied by the i nc lus ion of the words "at  th is t ime . "  

Counsel stated : 

Yes . . .  Templeton does state that. 9 And I th i nk  i n  th is particu lar case , 
if we look at the facts , the fact that the i nterview was term inated when 
Mr. Adams said , I cannot afford an attorney. The issue here is the 
fact that he wasn't able to afford an attorney. And the Miranda 
warn ing does , d id not i nform Mr. Adams that he wou ld be 
immed iate ly provided an attorney at no cost to h im . 1 0  

Because the department- issued Miranda advisements satisfy the requ i rements of 

CrR 3 . 1 ,  and Adams appropriate ly conceded that Templeton so ho lds ,  the tria l  

cou rt d id not err when it adm itted Adams' videotaped custod ia l  i nterview. 

I l l .  Noncorroborat ion I nstruct ion 

Adams also chal lenges j u ry instruct ion 1 3 , which provided that " it is not 

necessary that the test imony of the al leged vict im be corroborated" i n  order for the 

j u ry to retu rn a gu i lty verd ict .  He objected to the instruct ion at tria l ,  argu ing that i t  

9 Wash .  Ct .  of  Appeals oral arg . ,  supra, at 9 m in . ,  1 0  sec. 
1 0  Adams conti nued th is l ine of argument i n  rebutta l and asserted , without citat ion to 

authority, that a person subject to Miranda warn ings must also be advised as to how that attorney 
wi l l  be paid , in order to assure that the person subject to in terrogation does not m istakenly bel ieve 
that they wi l l  later be b i l led for such representation .  Specifica l ly ,  counsel exp la i ned that "the i ntent 
[of CrR 3 . 1 ]  is to make sure that it is crysta l c lear i n  layman's terms that there is no doubt that .  . .  a 
person i n  th is situation wi l l  be g iven an attorney at no cost and that they don ' t  have to bear that 
fi nancia l  bu rden [] themselves in order to assert the i r  rights . "  Id. at 22 m in . ,  1 3  sec. 

CrR 3 . 1 (c)( 1 )  only says that " it sha l l  be stated expressly that a person who is u nab le to pay 
a lawyer is entit led to have one provided without charge" and does not conta in  language captu ri ng 
the req u i rement cou nsel u rges. We decl i ne to read such a requ i rement in to the ru le .  

- 21 -



No. 86841 -1 -1/22 

was a matter of sufficiency of the evidence and it would be a negative instruction, 

which unnecessarily "give[s] the State kind of a head start." The prosecutor argued 

that it is he lpful to explain to the jury that the State is not required to show 

corroboration and it is a correct statement of the law. The court overruled Adams' 

objection ,  noting that the instruction is a correct statement of the law given the 

theory of the case that the State had articulated. On appeal, Adams asserts that 

jury instruction 1 3  constituted an improper judicial comment on the evidence. We 

disagree. 

We review alleged error in the jury instructions de novo. State v. Siberl, 

1 68 Wn.2d 306, 31 1 ,  230 P .3d 1 42 (201 0). The Washington Constitution provides 

that "[j]udges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment 

thereon, but shall declare the law." WASH.  CONST. art. IV, § 1 6. This provision 

prohibits a judge from expressing to the jury their personal opinions toward the 

merits of the case or directing that a factual issue has been established as a matter 

of law. State v. Levy, 1 56 Wn .2d 709, 721 , 1 32 P .3d 1 076 (2006). A jury 

instruction can be a comment on the evidence if it demonstrates that the court has 

a particular attitude toward the merits of the case. State v. Hermann, 1 38 Wn. 

App. 596, 606, 1 58 P .3d 96 (2007). To determine whether a trial court's statement 

amounts to a comment on the evidence, we "look to the facts and circumstances 

of the case." State v. Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d 491 , 495, 477 P .2d 1 (1 970). The 

fundamental question underlying our analysis is whether the mention of a fact in a 

jury instruction "conveys the idea that the fact has been accepted by the court as 

true." Levy, 1 56 Wn.2d at 726; State v. Zwald, 32 Wn App. 2d 62, 69, 555 P.3d 
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467 (2024). However, a jury instruction that accurately sets out the law on a 

particular matter is not an improper judicial comment on the evidence. State v. 

Brush, 1 83 Wn.2d 550, 557, 353 P.3d 21 3 (201 5); State v. Yishmael, 6 Wn. App. 

2d 203, 2 13 , 430 P.3d 279 (201 8), aff'd, 1 95 Wn.2d 1 55, 456 P.3d 1 1 72 (2020). 

Our Supreme Court has consistently held that a noncorroboration jury instruction 

does not amount to a judicial comment on the evidence. See, e.g, State v. Clayton, 

32 Wn.2d 571 , 572-73, 202 P .2d 922 (1 949); State v. Thomas, 52 Wn.2d 255, 256, 

324 P.2d 821 (1 958). 

We reject Adams's challenge on this issue because the non-corroboration 

jury instruction mirrored the applicable statute with which Adams was charged. 

RCW 9A.44.020(1 ) reads as fo llows: 

In order to convict a person of any crime defined in this 
chapter it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged 
victim be corroborated. 

Here, the trial court gave the fo llowing jury instruction :  

In  order to convict a person of the crime of Child Molestation 
in the Second Degree and/or Incest in the Second Degree as defined 
in these instructions, it is not necessary that the testimony of the 
alleged victim be corroborated. 

The jury instruction is an accurate reflection of the relevant law and established 

jurisprudence clearly provides that such an instruction does not constitute an 

impermissible judicial comment. 

Adams, however, asserts that in instruction 3, the court informed the jury, 

"A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the 

evidence or lack of evidence." He contends that by also providing instruction 1 3, 

the judge singled out one instance of a "lack of evidence" the jury could not 
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question: A's accusation based on the lack of corroboration. Adams is arguing 

that instruction 3 read in conjunction with jury instruction 1 3  is a comment on A's 

credibi l ity. He further avers that while the lack of evidence can create a reasonable 

doubt in most instances, instruction 1 3  told the jury the lack of corroboration here 

could not. 

Adams' argument overlooks controll ing case law on noncorroboration jury 

instructions. This court has consistently upheld noncorroboration instructions as 

non-prejudicial and not constituting impermissible judicial comment, including the 

recent Zwald opinion that reinforces this principle. Here, we adhere to established 

case law and conclude that jury instruction 1 3  is consistent with RCW 9A.44.020(1 ) 

and is not an impermissible judicial comment. 

IV. Sufficiency of the Evidence Regarding Sexual Gratification 

Adams next argues that the State failed to prove that any physical contact 

that occurred between him and A was done for sexual gratification. The State 

contends that the touching was not accidental and that it could only have been 

perpetrated for sexual gratification. We agree with the State . 

We review sufficiency of the evidence de novo. State v. Rich, 1 84 Wn.2d 

897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (201 6). "When the sufficiency of the evidence is 

challenged in a criminal case, al l  reasonable inferences from the evidence must 

be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." 

State v. Salinas, 1 1 9 Wn.2d 1 92,  201 , 829 P.2d 1 068 (1 992). "In determining the 

sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any 
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less reliable than direct evidence." State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 61 8 

P.2d 99 (1 980). 

We look to the total ity of the facts and circumstances presented in 

determining whether the sexual contact element has been satisfied. State v. 

Harstad, 1 53 Wn. App. 1 0, 21 , 21 8 P.3d 624 (2009). "Contact is 'intimate' within 

the meaning of the statute if the conduct is of such a nature that a person of 

common intelligence could fairly be expected to know that, under the 

circumstances, the parts touched were intimate and therefore the touching was 

improper." Id. at 21 (quoting State v. Jackson, 1 45 Wn. App. 81 4, 81 9, 1 87 P .3d 

321 (2008)). Adams argues that the State is required to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the sexual contact was for purposes of sexual gratification 

and the State did not prove anything by simply insisting there could be "no other 

purpose" for it. RCW 9A.44.086(1 ), defines child molestation as follows: 

A person is gu ilty of child molestation in the second degree 
when the person has . . .  sexual contact with another who is at least 
twelve years old but less than fourteen years old and the perpetrator 
is at least thirty-six months older than the victim .  

(Emphasis added.) Incest is defined, i n  pertinent part, by RCW 9A.64.020(2)(a), 

which reads: 

A person is gu ilty of incest in the second degree if [they] 
engage[] in sexual contact with a person whom [they] know[] to be 
related to [them], either legitimately or i l legitimately, as an ancestor, 
descendant, brother, or sister of either the whole or the half blood . 

(Emphasis added.) RCW 9A.44.01 0(1 3) defines "[s]exual contact" as "any 

touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of 

gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party ." While "sexual gratification 
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is not an explicit element of second-degree child molestation, the State must prove 

a defendant acted for the purpose of sexual gratification . "  State v. Stevens, 1 58 

Wn.2d 304, 309-1 0, 1 43 P .3d 8 1 7  (2006). Sexual gratification can be inferred from 

the nature and circumstances of the act itself. State v. Tilton, 1 1 1  Wn. App. 423, 

430, 45 P.3d 200 (2002), vacated on other grounds, 1 49 Wn.2d 775, 72 P.3d 735 

(2003). 

Adams relies on State v. Vasquez to argue that "inferences based on 

circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." 

1 78 Wn.2d 1 ,  1 6, 309 P .3d 31 8 (201 3). The State charged Vasquez with two 

counts of forgery and our Supreme Court vacated one forgery conviction due to 

insufficient evidence of his intent to injure or defraud. Id. at 4. Vasquez does not 

explain how the facts in the present case do not support an inference that the 

contact was accomplished for purposes of sexual gratification. On the contrary, 

the evidence presented al lows a reasonable jury to conclude that Adams' actions 

were intended to promote sexual gratification .  Specifica lly, A testified that Adams 

asked if he could try something before taking A's left hand and placing it under his 

robe, directly onto his groin area. Additionally, Adams' apology and request for 

secrecy, and his instruction that A not tell anyone what happened, support an 

inference of intent to derive sexual gratification from the contact. Evidence of 

regret and concealment suggest to the jury that Adams understood the nature of 

the act and intended to keep it private. When viewed in totality, A's testimony 

provides ample basis for the jury's conclusion that Adams' conduct was sexually 
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motivated . We conclude the State presented sufficient evidence to prove sexual 

contact .  

V. Same Crim inal  Conduct 

Adams next ass igns error to the court's decis ion to treat ch i ld molestat ion 

and incest separate ly for pu rposes of sentenci ng . The court found that ,  a lthough 

both counts occu rred at  the same t ime,  i n  the same p lace , and i nvo lved the same 

victim ,  they do not constitute the same crim ina l  conduct d ue to the d ifference in 

i ntent requ i red under the respective statutes . The court cited State v. Chenoweth, 

1 85 Wn .2d 2 1 8 , 370 P . 3d 6 (20 1 6) ,  i n  making its decis ion . 

Crimes constitute the same crim ina l  conduct when they " requ i re the same 

crim inal  i ntent , are comm itted at the same t ime and p lace ,  and invo lve the same 

victim . "  RCW 9 . 94A. 589( 1 ) (a) . U n less a l l  e lements are present, the offenses must 

be counted separate ly. Chenoweth, 1 85 Wn .2d at 2 1 9 ;  State v. Porter, 1 33 Wn .2d 

1 77 ,  1 8 1 ,  942 P .2d 974 ( 1 997) . Our  Supreme Court has held that rape of a ch i ld 

and incest are separate crimes because they i nvo lve d isti nct crim i nal  i ntents . See, 

e .g. ,  State v. Bobenhouse, 1 66 Wn .2d 881 , 896 , 2 1 4  P . 3d 90 1 (2009) ; State v. 

Calle, 1 25 Wn .2d 769 , 780 , 888 P .2d 1 55 ( 1 995) . However, Adams argues that 

sentencing i n  h is case occu rred before the Supreme Court op in ion i n  State v. 

Westwood1 1  which , when appl ied to the present case , establ ishes that ch i ld 

molestat ion and incest have the same "objective i ntent . " There ,  our  Supreme 

Court considered whether the defendant's convictions for assau lt i n  the fi rst 

deg ree , attempted rape i n  the fi rst deg ree , and bu rg lary i n  the fi rst deg ree 

1 1  2 Wn . 3d 1 57 , 1 67 , 534 P . 3d 1 1 62 (2023) .  
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constituted the same criminal conduct. Westwood, 2 Wn.3d at 1 68. In doing so, 

it relied on the statutory definitions of the crimes to determine objective intent. Id. 

at 1 67.  "The statutory intent is relevant in determining whether the objective intent 

prong is satisfied. Looking to any other source of intent has the potential to lean 

too closely to the subjective analysis that we have always rejected."  Id. Because 

the statutory definitions of intent for each crime were different, the Supreme Court 

held that Westwood's crimes did not have the same objective intent. See id. at 

1 68-69. 

Adams argues that under the reasoning set out in Westwood, the trial court 

erred in finding the "objective intent" between the two crimes was different. He 

further asserts that Chenoweth is distinguishable from the instant case because 

the intent in both child molestation and incest is the same, to have "sexual contact," 

and the jury instruction defined "sexual contact" identically for both crimes. But, 

the State argues that child molestation and incest have d ifferent statutory intents 

and the reasons the Supreme Court reached this same conclusion about rape and 

incest apply equally to child molestation and incest. The State relies on Calle to 

argue that leg islature intended separate punishments for child molestation and 

incest. 1 25 Wn.2d at 780. In Calle, our Supreme Court considered double 

jeopardy concerns arising out of a single act of intercourse and held the double 

jeopardy clause did not prevent convictions for both rape in the second degree and 

incest in the first degree arising out of a single act of intercourse. Id. at 774-75. It 

further mentioned that "the differing purposes served by the incest and rape 

statutes, as well as their location in different chapters of the criminal code, are 
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evidence of the Leg is latu re's i ntent to pun ish them as separate offenses . "  Id. at 

780 .  Even though we understand the doub le jeopardy analys is and the same 

crim inal  conduct analys is are d isti nct ,  we sti l l  have to look at the statutory i ntent of 

the offenses , as d id the court i n  State v. Dunaway, 1 2  Chenoweth, and Westwood. 

See State v. Hatt, 1 1  Wn . App .  2d 1 1 3 , 1 39 , 452 P . 3d 577 (20 1 9) (hold ing same 

crim inal  conduct d iffers from doub le jeopardy vio lation cla im) ; State v. French, 1 57 

Wn .2d 593 , 6 1 1 ,  1 4 1  P . 3d 54 (2006) ( "A double jeopardy vio lation cla im is d isti nct 

from a 'same crim inal  conduct' cla im and requ i res a separate analys is . ") ;  State v. 

Tili, 1 39 Wn .2d 1 07 ,  1 1 9 n . 5 ,  985 P .2d 365 ( 1 999) (noti ng "same crim ina l  conduct" 

analys is under Sentencing Reform Act of 1 98 1 , 1 3  and " un it of prosecution"  analys is 

under doub le jeopardy are d isti nct) . 

Aga i n ,  the statutory defi n it ion of ch i ld molestat ion i n  the second deg ree , 

RCW 9A.44 . 086( 1  ) ,  reads as fo l lows : 

A person is gu i lty of ch i ld molestat ion i n  the second deg ree 
when the person has . . .  sexual contact with another who is at least 
twelve years old but less than fou rteen years old and the perpetrator 
is at least th i rty-six months o lder than the victim .  

(Emphasis added . )  The statutory defi n it ion of i ncest, RCW 9A.64 . 020(1 ) (a) , is 

the fo l lowing : 

A person is gu i lty of i ncest i n  the second deg ree if [they] 
engage[] in sexual contact with a person whom [they] know[] to be 
related to [them] , either leg itimate ly or i l leg itimate ly, as an ancestor, 
descendant ,  b rother , or s ister of either the whole or the ha lf b lood . 

(Emphasis added . )  Here ,  Adams sti l l  fa i ls to exp la in  how the d ifferent i ntent, and 

other elements , of i ncest and ch i ld molestat ion support a conclus ion of same 

1 2  State v. Dunaway, 1 09 Wn.2d 207 ,  2 1 7 ,  743 P .2d 1 237 ( 1 987) .  
1 3  Ch.  9 . 94A RCW. 
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objective intent. The mere fact that both crimes require proof of sexual contact 

does not establ ish that they share the same statutory criminal intent. As our 

Supreme Court noted,  with regard to the crimes at issue in  Calle, the crimes of 

conviction in  the present case, incest and ch i ld molestation , are also defined in  two 

separate sections of the criminal code.  1 25 Wn .2d at 780 . Incest is defined in  

chapter 9A.64 RCW, "Fami ly offenses," and ch i ld molestation in the second degree 

is defined in chapter 9A.44 RCW, "Sex offenses." Furthermore ,  Chenoweth held 

that "the intent to have [sexual contact] with someone related to you d iffers from 

the intent to have [sexual contact] with a ch i ld . "  1 85 Wn .2d at 223. The same is 

true for incest and ch i ld molestation . Therefore , we conclude that the cri mes of 

conviction do not share the same criminal  intent and the trial court did not err when 

it decl ined to treat them as the same criminal conduct for purposes of sentencing .  

VI . Legal F inancial Obl igations 

Adams next asserts , and the State concedes, that the VPA should be 

stricken under the recently amended version of RCW 7.68 .035 and based on the 

trial court's find ing that Adams was ind igent. We accept the State's concession 

and remand to strike the VPA from the judgment and sentence .  

Affi rmed in  part ,  reversed in part, and remanded to stri ke the VPA. 

WE CONCUR:  
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